No. 46705-4-II

Pierce County No. 05-1-00143-9

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DEMARCUS D. GEORGE,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,
PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Ronald E. Culpepper, trial judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

KATHRYN RUSSELL SELK
WSBA No. 23879
Counsel for Appellant

RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE
Post Office Box 31017
Seattle, Washington 98103
(206) 782-3353

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Appellant Dmarcus George was deprived of his Article I, § 3 and 14th Amendment due process rights to a fair trial.
2. The prosecutors committed egregious, ill-intentioned, serious and highly prejudicial misconduct which compels reversal.
3. The trial judge erred and George’s rights to a fair trial were further violated by the repeated introduction of extremely prejudicial ER 404(b) evidence of “propensity” over defense objection.
4. The trial court erred in repeatedly denying George’s motions for mistrial despite the commission of errors so serious that no fair trial could have been the result.
5. George was deprived of his Sixth Amendment and Article I, § 22, rights to effective assistance of counsel.
6. Appellant assigns error to Jury Instruction 24, the “justifiable homicide” instruction, as well as Instructions 25 and 26, all of which relieved the prosecution of the full weight of its burden and set an improperly high standard for self-defense for the felony murder count. CP 369-72.¹
7. George was deprived of his Article 1, § 9 and Fifth Amendment rights to be free from double jeopardy.
8. Resentencing is required in order to apply the principles of State v. O’Dell, 183 Wn.2d 680, 358 P.3d 359 (2015).

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Due process mandates that criminal proceedings comport with notions of fundamental fairness and ensures the accused the right to a fair trial.
 - a. At trial and in closing, over defense objection, the prosecutors a) violated orders excluding evidence that there had been a previous trial, b) repeatedly elicited testimony and asked questions designed to

¹Pursuant to RAP 10.4(c), a copy of the instructions are attached hereto as Appendix B.

inflame the jurors passions and prejudices against the defendant, d) repeatedly misled the jury about the facts and law, and e) displayed an inflammatory “PowerPoint” visual display highlighting improper evidence and misstating the evidence and the law.

Is there more than a reasonable probability that the repeated acts of misconduct affected the verdict when all of the misconduct went directly to the only issue in the case - whether George had acted in self-defense?

- b. At trial, the jury heard the opinion of one witness that the defendant was a “monster,” testimony that a non-testifying witness had linked George to a shooting a week before, testimony from a second witness that another person had made the same claim and evidence that George had committed the prior crime of unlawfully possessing a gun as a juvenile years before.

Did the admission of all of this improper “propensity” evidence compel reversal especially where the prosecution relied on it as evidence of guilt?

- c. Did the trial court err and abuse its discretion in failing to grant a new trial even though the errors were so corrosive to the jury’s ability to fairly decide the case that no fair trial could be the result?

- 2. Because claim of self-defense negates the mental element of the charge, the proper standard of self-defense for felony murder is that which negates the mental element of the underlying felony - in this case, assault in the first- or second-degree.

Were the jury instructions on self-defense improper and did they fail to make the relevant legal standard manifestly clear to the average juror for Count II, the charge of second-degree felony murder, where they told the jury to use the self-defense standard applicable to the mental element of intent to kill even though that was not the standard which applied?

Further, was counsel prejudicially ineffective in both failing to object to the improper instructions applying the more

onerous standard and in failing to propose instructions which contained the proper standard for count II?

3. George was convicted of both second-degree intentional murder and second-degree felony murder based on the very same death. Although the sentencing court only imposed one sentence, it referred to the second count in the judgment and sentence and dismissed that count only “without prejudice.” Were George’s rights to be free from double jeopardy violated?
4. George was only 20 on the day of the crime. At the time of sentencing, it was generally believed that a sentencing court could not consider the defendant’s youth as a mitigating factor and that State v. Ha’ mim, 132 Wn.2d 834, 940 P.2d 633 (1997), had so held. In O’Dell, supra, the state Supreme Court recently clarified that Ha’ mim did not so hold.

Is reversal and remand for resentencing required because O’Dell applies to this case and Mr. George’s case involves serious questions regarding maturity and age and culpability under O’Dell?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

Appellant Dmarcus George was charged by amended information with first-degree premeditated murder and second-degree felony murder with a predicate assault, all alleged with a firearm enhancement. CP 9-10; RCW 9A.32.030(1)(a); RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b); RCW 9.94A.510; RCW 9.94A.530. Trial was held before the Honorable Judge Katherine M. Stolz on January 15, 22, 26-19, February 2-5, and 9-11, 2009, after which the jury acquitted George of first-degree murder, were “unable to agree” on a second-degree murder lesser included and convicted of first-degree

manslaughter for Count I, as well as of second-degree felony murder.² CP 45-50. George appealed and this Court reversed and remanded for a new trial. State v. George, 161 Wn. App. 86, 94, 249 P.3d 202, review denied, 172 Wn.2d 1007 (2011).

Upon remand, a second amended information was filed, charging second-degree intentional murder and second-degree felony murder with a first- or second-degree assault predicate, both with a firearm enhancement. CP 107-108. After multiple continuances and other pretrial proceedings from December of 2011 through August of 2014, a jury trial was held before the Honorable Judge Ronald E. Culpepper on August 11-14, 18-21, 25-28, and September 2-4, 2014.³ The jury convicted as charged and, on September 19, 2014, the judge imposed a standard-range sentence. CP 338-41, S2RP 1-70. George appealed and this pleading follows. See CP 390-404.

2. Overview of testimony at trial

DMarcus George was just 20 years old in June of 2004 and was asleep in the back of Freddie McGrew's car when it stopped for gas. 24RP 43, 50. McGrew's girlfriend, Tamrah Dickman, then shook George awake, more frightened than George had ever seen her, saying "they're about to do something to" McGrew. 24RP 54-55. George looked out the

²The transcript from the first trial, prepared for the first appeal, was transferred to this appeal at George's behest. References to the record from the first trial are explained in Appendix A.

³References to the record from this second trial are explained in Appendix A.

window and saw McGrew walking out of the gas station store with a man following behind and another, a heavysset black guy, nearby. 24P 55, 59. He heard Dickman warn McGrew, "Fred, Fred, behind you" but it appeared McGrew did not hear and he kept going to the car to start pumping gas. 24RP 54-60.

George saw the man following, later identified as Rickie Millender, approach McGrew from behind and come "right up on him" quickly. 24RP 61. Millender wanted answers about the violent street death of Millender's best female friend - a death Millender suspected McGrew was involved in or had knowledge about, and George heard Millender say "we need to talk" about the incident. 24RP 62. Millender's tone was very aggressive and heated and George could see that McGrew was now looking worried. 24RP 62. George also said that Millender grabbed his friend and seemed to be searching his midsection or something. 24RP 65.

McGrew was trying to walk to the pump but to George it appeared that Millender kept trying to block him and George heard Millender say, "you guys are not going to leave here, man," in a very aggressive tone. 24RP 110. George believed that meant Millender was going to retaliate for the death of his friend and what he thought was McGrew's involvement. 24RP 110. He described it as seeming "one of you guys are going to have to pay for this, one of you guys are going to have to die for my friend dying." 24RP 111. George was really scared and started to get

out the passenger side door to try to help his friend on the other side but suddenly the heavyset man was in the way. 24RP 66-67. That man, later identified as Isaiah Clark, started walking towards George and George testified that the man made a gesture with his hand around his waist that made George think the man had a weapon, so George stopped in his tracks. 24RP 70, 72.

McGrew started trying to get in the car and George could see from his expressions that McGrew was scared and really did not want to be there. 24RP 74. George testified that he could hear Millender say, "I told you guys, you guys are not going to leave here," saw the man physically trying to block his friend and trying to confront him still. 24RP 75-76. But McGrew seemed to be getting in so George turned away to get back in the car, relieved. Things then happened "really really fast." 24RP 75. Clark was suddenly behind George, who was partially back in the car, and George was struck in the back of his head with something George thought felt like a piece of metal. 24RP 77-78. George fell into the vehicle, wondering if he had been hit by a gun. 24RP 78.

Convinced he was going to die, feeling Clark's hand gripping on him as if to pull him out of the car, George said, he reached inside, pulled a gun he had under his coat, and pointed it in the direction of Clark. 24RP 79-80. He fired multiple times and shot Clark four times in rapid succession. 24RP 83. Clark died at the scene and George ended up fleeing the jurisdiction, eventually being brought back to the state several

years later.

Clark sustained four gunshot wounds. 16RP 500. One entrance wound was in the upper left back or shoulder and went through into the chest and the left lung. 16RP 502. Another entered the left arm on the back side and went through the left chest and out the right side of the body. 16RP 508. That was not a “contact” wound but there was “stippling” present, indicating some gun powder struck the skin because the gun was close enough. 16RP 508. A third one entered outside the left arm and left the arm near the armpit, going into the left chest and down through the body into the lung and spine. 16RP 509. That wound also had stippling. 16RP 509. The fourth wound entered the front of the chest on the right side, passed under the skin and reentered into the abdomen. 16RP 511-12. Any one of the shots could have occurred first or last and the forensic pathologist could not say whether the shots were fired in self-defense or whether Clark was involved in a fight at the time of the incident. 16RP 541.

There were many witnesses to the incident, some of whom supported George’s self-defense claim, some of whom did not. It was confirmed that Clark was much bigger than George physically, built like a “linebacker” and so large that he looked like he was wearing football pads even though he was not. See 21RP 88-107. Some witnesses heard argument, some did not. Laura Devereaux Kitchen, a legal assistant at the Pierce County prosecutor’s office, was at the gas station at the time. 18RP

617. She confirmed that, when she arrived, some people were being loud and she saw two men who seemed like they were going to fight. 18RP 622. She thought, however, that those two men came over to the pump behind her car and started facing each other with hands up saying like “[a]re we going to do this,” but then there was a gun shot so they all “hit the ground.” 18RP 622.

Kitchen got involved and, when she ran out of the gas station after telling the attendant to call police, she saw two people next to Clark, with one of them searching him. 18RP 627. In fact, they were trying to roll him over to check his front pockets. 18RP 631. The man said something like, “[f]uck yes, he has it,” and Kitchen objected when they tried to turn him over. 18RP 26. The woman said something like “fuck you, bitch,” and threatened that if Kitchen did not leave, what had happened to Clark would happen to Kitchen. 18RP 27, 42.

Monica Johnson was also there to get gas and she heard someone arguing as she headed inside to pay. 18RP 46. The arguing got louder and she could hear it from inside and then she saw someone outside with a gun. 18RP 49. The men who were arguing were a man pumping gas and a man standing in front of him. 18RP 53. The man pumping gas seemed “mellow” and was not saying a lot, but the other man was moving around a lot, talking a lot and had his hands moving. 18RP 54-55. Johnson testified that she heard him say “[y]ou gonna just do me like that?” with an escalating voice. 18RP 54-55. Johnson said she then saw the man exit the

vehicle with the gun drawn and another man shot. 18RP 61.

In her statement given just after the incident, she told police she did not see the gun when the first shots were fired, because the victim was standing in front of the shooter and blocking her view. 18RP 137. But maintained, years later at trial, that she had seen his face and the gun and she would never forget the flash from the gun. 18RP 140-41.

D. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROCEEDINGS WERE SO PERVADED BY ERROR AND MISCONDUCT THAT REVERSAL IS REQUIRED

Both the state and federal due process clauses mandate that criminal prosecutions comport with prevailing notions of fundamental fairness. See State v. Wittenbarger, 124 Wn.2d 467, 474-75, 880 P.2d 517 (1994); 14TH Amend.; Art. 1, § 3. In addition, while there is no right to a “perfect trial,” the accused is entitled to trial which is fair. See State v. Miles, 73 Wn.2d 67 70, 436 P.2d 198 (1968).

Although both trials in this case were extremely long, there was really only one issue in dispute - whether Dmarcus George acted in self-defense when he fired that gun and killed Isaiah Clark that June day. In the appeal from the first trial, this Court reversed, because George was denied his due process rights to properly present that defense to the jury. George, 172 Wn. App. at 100-101. In this appeal, reversal is also required, because the second trial was far from the fundamentally fair trial to which George was constitutionally entitled. Instead, the entire proceeding was

tainted by the prosecution's repeated, serious and ill-intentioned misconduct and other errors, all of which directly impacted the jury's ability to fairly and impartially decide the case.

a. Relevant facts

The facts regarding these issues are woven throughout trial and do not summarize neatly into categories, so the entire trial and all of those errors must be reviewed at once.

At the beginning of trial, the parties discussed how to refer to the prior trial, and the prosecutor admitted that "if you call it a prior trial, it's not great for the jury to hear." 16RP 612-13. The judge reserved ruling but a little later, it was agreed that they would use the phrase, "prior hearing." 16RP 612-13; 18RP 5.

Prior to trial, counsel moved under ER 404(b) to exclude evidence "regarding possible involvement in other crimes," "character" evidence and the possession of firearms which had not resulted in charges. CP 159-74; 191-207. At trial, Johnson first testified, over defense objection, about her own emotional reaction to seeing the gun, after which she volunteered, "I'll never forget the look on his face." 18RP 63. The prosecutor asked what the look was and Johnson said, "[i]t was a very menacing" look. 18RP 63. When counsel objected to "that opinion, conclusion" and that it was "improper demeanor testimony," the court overruled. 18RP 63. Counsel continued to object to no avail, and the prosecutor then prompted the witness to explain what she meant when she said the look was

“menacing.” 18RP 63-64. Johnson then declared, “[t]here was no fear on the face. It was more - - it was just a nonchalant. It was - - it was a monster. It was nonchalant, like it was nothing to it. I’ll never forget it.” 18RP 64. Counsel’s objection and request to strike were denied. 18RP 64.

Later, with the jury out, when counsel moved for a mistrial, the prosecutor said it was “fair game” that the witness had made the statement, because George was claiming self-defense and acting like he was innocent and Johnson’s opinion somehow rebutted that claim. 18RP 83. While concerned that the “monster” comment was “kind of unfortunate,” the court denied the motion and noted that the comment had not been really elicited but rather volunteered. 18RP 84.

A few moments later, Johnson was allowed to testify over defense objections that the man going through Clark’s pockets had said, “[t]his is the same guys who shot my home boys a certain time ago, a week ago.” 18RP 94. The judge then excused the jury sua sponte, and counsel again moved for a mistrial. 18RP 97. While she did not believe that the prosecutor had intentionally elicited the statement, she said, the testimony could not be cured and clearly was so unfairly prejudicial and improper “404(b)” evidence and a “bell that can’t be unrung.” 18RP 98. The prosecutor tried to minimize the impact, conceding that there was no evidence George was involved in that earlier shooting but saying the jury was going to hear that Millender was there to talk to McGrew about

information on the shooting death of one of Millender's friends anyway and would assume that was what the comment was about. 18RP 99-100.

After a break, the parties spent time talking about a "curative" instruction the prosecutor had proposed, but counsel continued to urge that mistrial was required. 18RP 100-111. She also argued that this evidence was effectively evidence that George had the "propensity" for being "trigger happy and that he goes around and willy-nilly shoots people as recently as last week." 18RP 112. The court denied the mistrial motion and told the jury that they were to "disregard the last statement," that it might be "inaccurate," and that there was no evidence George participated in any shooting prior to that day. 18RP 116.

A short time later, when Clark's brother was testifying, counsel asked whether the man who told him that night that Clark had just been shot was "winded or excited," and the brother responded, "[h]e was upset, saying that **he had shot him like their other friend who had been shot before.**" 18RP 162-63 (emphasis added). The prosecutor moved to strike and the court told the jury to disregard the statement. 18RP 163.

Later, at trial, with the jury out, the prosecutor was discussing what he should be allowed to admit and he repeatedly referred to "what the defendant testified to in the prior trial." 24RP 96. The judge corrected him, "[h]earing." 24RP 96. The prosecutor then declared, "[w]ell, for our purposes it's a trial." 24RP 96.

With the jury in, the prosecutor started his cross-examination by

talking about how scary the situation was but “[t]hese type of events, though, were nothing new to Fred McGrew, were they? Yes or no.” 24RP 99. George responded, “[t]he environment that we grew up in, things like this happened a lot.” 24RP 99. The prosecutor then showed George what he said was his testimony “from the prior proceeding in this matter,” and counsel objected that it was a “prior hearing, wasn’t it?” 24RP 99-100. The court said, “[w]ell, he said “proceeding. Let’s call it a hearing. So prior hearing in 2009.” 24RP 100.

A few moments later, when cross-examining George, the prosecutor asked George if, when he “testified back in 2009,” he was “under oath,” knew it was important to tell the truth at the time and knew how serious the “stakes” were, after which George said that he was “nervous like in this situation right here” when he made the previous statement, then went on:

I’m the only person up here being judged, being accused of something, and the only thing I wanted to do – - I didn’t want to make it look that bad for about the victim’s family, so I might have left things out.

24RP 116. At that point, the prosecutor told the court “this might be a good time for a motion outside the jury’s presence.” 24RP 116.

With the jury out, the prosecutor then argued that “[w]e’ve kind of been engaging in this charade with calling it a prior hearing,” admitting that “twice at least” it had been referred to as a trial “inadvertently.” 24RP 117. He moved to be allowed at that point to start calling it a prior trial, saying the jury needed to know that the “stakes” were “as serious in 2009 that you would testify truthfully and give just as complete a picture as you would

today.” 24RP 117-18.

Counsel objected, noting she would have confronted and cross-examined all of the witnesses at trial much differently if the ruling had been that they were going to discuss the fact of the prior trial, but it was far too late as the trial was almost over. 24RP 118. She said “there’s a big difference between having people testify that something is simply a prior proceeding than something that is going on in front of a jury to determine guilt or innocence.” 24RP 118. She vehemently objected that “all of a sudden” it was being brought out “at truly the 11th hour that this was a criminal prosecution and there was obviously some kind of verdict five years ago” and the stakes are suddenly changed. 24RP 118-19.

The judge agreed:

Both sides at the beginning of this trial said we would refer to this prior trial as a prior hearing and not use the word “trial.” Both agreed. I’m not going to change it now with what would probably be the last witness of the trial. **We’re now in, what the 12th day of this trial and we’re going to change the ground rules? No, we’re not.** It’s a proceeding or hearing.

24RP 119 (emphasis added). The prosecutor backed off, not wanting to argue with the court, he said, and the judge told him not to and then brought the jury back in. 24RP 119.

One moment later, however, the prosecutor started questioning George about the crucial facts of what George had thought at the time of the crime, eliciting that it had appeared to George that Clark had a weapon in his hand when Clark was trying to grab him after Clark had knocked George down. 24RP 130. The prosecutor then engaged in the following

questioning:

A: Again, this is the weapon **you didn't mention at the prior trial, right?**

Q: Can you rephrase the question?

A: The weapon you're saying he had, now that you're saying he had, **you didn't say that at the prior trial?**

[COUNSEL]: Objection, Your Honor. I have a motion to make outside the presence of the jury.

THE COURT: Well, I'll hear that later.

[COUNSEL]; Your Honor, this is deliberate misconduct and counsel knows it.

THE COURT: I'm going to overrule the objection.

24RP 129-30. The prosecutor then referred to the "prior time you testified in '09" and continued on his theme. 24RP 129-30.

Once he was through, and the jury was out, counsel moved for a mistrial and also asked for sanctions. 24RP 141-43. She pointed out that it was only "[f]ive minutes after the Court instructed him specifically in response to his misconduct in referring to this as a trial" that the prosecutor had repeated it. 24RP 142-43. And she noted that the very experienced prosecutor had asked to be allowed to use the term, been specifically refused by the court and then had simply gone ahead and done it anyway, "not once but twice." 24RP 141-43.

The prosecutor claimed that his violations of the court's order just moments after the court had ruled were not "intentional" or "misconduct" but "simply a slip of the tongue in the heat of questioning." 24RP 143. He

tried to excuse it by saying he must have “had it on the brain subconsciously.” 24RP 143. He also tried to minimize his acts, saying jurors were not “morons” and would already know there was a prior trial. 24RP 147.

Neither of the experienced prosecutors could think of a curative instruction that “wouldn’t just highlight the problem” or “re-emphasize the point.” 24RP 149.

After a brief break, the court denied the motion for mistrial. 24RP 149. The judge also denied the request for a curative instruction, but said “[i]t’s unfortunate” that the comments had been made. 24RP 151. The judge renewed his ruling on the mistrial when counsel again moved for one the next day of trial. 25RP 5, 11-12.

That was the day of closing arguments. In initial closing, the prosecutor told the jury that the defendant’s reasons for what he did were irrelevant, saying “[w]e don’t care what the defendant says” about why he did it because he might not be a “reasonably prudent person.” 25RP 72. He then told the jury policy reasons why, as a society, people should not be “engaging in self-defense every day,” declaring that, “[w]e want the professionals to handle it,” “[w]e want the police to respond” and decide whether to arrest, “[w]e want prosecutors to make charging decisions,” and “[w]e want judges and juries to decide” whether someone was actually a danger, so that the person “accused of being a threat to have all the due process that’s been afforded to this defendant.” 25RP 73-74. Counsel’s

objection that the argument was contrary to law was overruled. 25RP 74.

A moment later, the prosecutor talked about Johnson's having correctly picked George out of a montage as showing how good her memory was of the incident, saying it showed she could "accurately recall what happened that day[.]" 25RP 76. The prosecutor then went on:

She also describes for you the look on the defendant's face as the shooting is happening. And, again, like I said before, are we to believe that she could identify his face but she didn't know what his face looked like, **the emotion on his face as he's shooting Isaiah's [sp] Clark?** What does she say? Here is her vantage point. Here is the photographs [sic] she viewed. **What does she say about the look on the defendant's face? "No fear in his face; nothing to it; at ease; menacing;" and "like a monster." These are the terms she used to describe the emotion and his state of mind as he's firing that gun. These are the expressions of a man who's murdering someone in cold blood. Nothing about fear here, nothing about him being attacked.**

25RP 77-78 (emphasis added).

Apparently at the same time, he projected a "PowerPoint" slide declaring "This is Not Self-Defense," citing Johnson. CP 316. A moment later a slide came up citing Johnson's claim of "[t]he look on defendant's face as he comes out of the car to shoot." CP 319. The next slide displayed a picture of the crime scene, the booking photo showing George, and the following words below:

The look on the defendant's face:

"No fear"

"At ease"

"Like a monster"

"Nothing to it"

"Menacing"

CP 320.⁴

Continuing on, the prosecutor referred to Millender not testifying but said that “thankfully we have testimony from 2009 under oath covering the same subject matter.” 26RP 81. He also said that, regarding the defendant’s credibility, by George’s “own acknowledgment, when he testified, he was under oath; he understood how serious it was; he understood how serious - -” at which point the court held a sidebar at counsel’s objection and request. 26RP 89. When they returned, the prosecutor emphasized his theme that even knowing how serious it was, “the need to fully articulate everything that happened that day, understanding **the need to explain here’s why I murdered this man, he[George] just leaves out the fact that the victim had a gun, the most important fact.**” 26RP 89-90 (emphasis added). The following exchange then occurred:

If there’s a more important fact when you’re claiming that you were justified in what you were doing, let’s hear it.

In 2009 he leaves out the most important fact. And why is that? **Because in 2009 his testimony was not self-defense. In 2009 - -**

[COUNSEL]: Your Honor, I’m going to ask for a sidebar again. I ask for the instruction that I previously asked for. Counsel has opened the door about as wide as he can, and the curative instruction needs to be given to correct his misstatement of - -

⁴The exhibit containing the powerpoint does not include transitions or other techniques of emphasis which might have been used. See CP 307-337. A supplemental filing is being requested.

THE COURT: I'm going to deny the request for the curative instruction that we discussed earlier. I'll let Mr. Williams go on. I hope he'll maybe move on.

25RP 90-91. During this part of the prosecutor's argument, he projected a "PowerPoint" slide for the jury which provided "**Defendant's Testimony in 2009,**" used an equal sign with a slash mark through it, then "**Self Defense.**" CP 335 (emphasis in original).

Once the prosecutor finished, with the jury out, counsel moved yet again for a mistrial. 25RP 97. She pointed out that the prosecutor had repeatedly violated the prohibition on referring to the previous trial as a "trial" as soon as George took the stand, and then again, in closing, emphasized that in 2009 it was "the most important statement the defendant would ever make and he didn't say this." 25RP 98.

Counsel was especially concerned with the prosecutor's "deliberate attempts to mislead the jury" by declaring that George had not claimed self-defense in the first trial, as the entire reason the case was being retried was because the prosecutor prevented the jury from hearing a self-defense instruction and George had been precluded from fully raising that claim at that trial. 25RP 99-100. And counsel pointed out that the misstatement of the crucial fact of whether George had raised self-defense at the previous trial was so prejudicial as to deny George "at the 11th hour, a fair trial," because there was no way to cure the extreme damage which had been done. 25RP 100-101.

The prosecutor minimized the issue, saying he could have just relied

on statements of George saying that when he testified in 2009 his life was on the line. 25RP 102-103. Next, the prosecutor declared, “I did not say that the defendant **didn’t claim it was self defense in 2009.**” 25RP 103 (emphasis added). Instead, he claimed, he just said that one important fact had been omitted, but “never said anything about the defendant claiming in 2009 that this wasn’t an issue of self-defense.” 25RP 103.

Counsel pointed out that the only time anyone would be testifying about or claiming self-defense would be at a trial where they were defending against a conviction. 25RP 104-105. And again, she noted that the prosecutor had told the jury that George had not claimed self-defense at the previous trial, which was “flat out wrong” and a deliberate attempt to mislead the jury. 25RP 99. The court was not sure what the prosecutor had said but denied the mistrial motion and refused to give a curative instruction which would have told the jury that the case was back for retrial because of the self-defense instruction issue. 25RP 106.

When the parties came back, counsel renewed her motion, pointing out the PowerPoint slide that said “2009 does not equal self-defense” and had been displayed to the jury during the offending remarks. 25RP 107. The prosecutor then claimed that the point of the slide was that George’s “2009 testimony did not equal *justifiable* self-defense.” 25RP 108 (emphasis added). Through the discussions, the court continued to believe that the prosecutor had not really said that George “didn’t claim self-defense in 2009 and that now he’s claiming it,” preferring to think the prosecutor was

only saying the “facts in 2009 didn’t establish self-defense.” 25RP 109.

The judge admitted he might be wrong in his understanding of the argument and also said the jury might believe something different. 25RP 109.

Counsel asked to be allowed to reopen and put George on the stand to establish what had actually been said and claimed at the first trial but the court just told her she could do her own PowerPoint “if you think those are so powerful to the jurors.” 25RP 110.

The next day, counsel renewed the motion, this time armed with the actual transcript showing that the prosecutor had, in fact, declared to the jury that George had left out “the most important fact” in his testimony in 2009, and that this was “[b]ecause in 2009 his testimony **was not self-defense.**” 25RP 112-13 (emphasis added). She pointed out that the prosecutor had presented as fact “something that he knows is just false,” in violation of his duties as a quasi-judicial officer, and that making such a “gross misrepresentation of what happened in the last trial” was “misconduct of the highest order.” 25RP 113-14.

In addition, counsel noted, not only was the prosecution well aware that self-defense had been the claim at the prior trial, it was also aware that the defense had been precluded from fully exploring the facts and evidence regarding self-defense at the first trial, because the court had held no self-defense claim could be made and the prosecutors had objected repeatedly to defense efforts to go into relevant evidence. 25RP 117.

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