NO. 46705-4

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

DEMARCUS GEORGE, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Ronald E. Culpepper

No. 05-1-00143-9

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By

KATHLEEN PROCTOR Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 14811

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

.

Table of Contents

1.	Has defendant failed to demonstrate that any improper propensity evidence was admitted at trial?1
2.	Has defendant failed to meet his burden of showing the impropriety of the prosecutor's actions when he baldly asserts they constitute misconduct with no argument or supporting authority?
3.	Has defendant failed to show any abuse of the trial court's discretion in the denial of his motions for mistrial?1
4.	Has defendant failed to meet his burden of showing ineffective assistant of counsel when he acknowledges that the self-defense instructions his attorney proposed were legally correct for the charge of intentional murder, and when he has failed to show that they were legally deficient for the charge of felony murder, particullary when the jury convicted him of both means?
5.	Did the trial court properly merge the two convictions for alternative means of committing murder in the second degree on into a single count for sentencing?1
6.	Has defendant failed to show that the facts of his case are sufficiently similar to those in O'Dell as to require a remand for a new sentencing hearing?
<u>STA</u>	TEMENT OF THE CASE2
1.	Procedure2
2.	Facts4
ARC	<u>GUMENT</u> 23
1.	NO IMPROPER 404(b) PROPENSITY EVIDENCE WAS ADMITTED IN DEFENDANT'S TRIAL23

2.	DEFENDANT HAS FAILED TO MEET HIS BURDEN OF SHOWING THE IMPROPRIETY OF THE PROSECUTOR'S ACTIONS		
3.	DEFENDANT HAS FAILED TO SHOW ANY ABUSE OF DISCRETION IN THE DENIAL OF HIS MOTIONS FOR MISTRIAL		
4.	DEFENDANT HAS FAILED TO MEET HIS BURDEN OF SHOWING DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE FOR HIS COUNSEL'S PROPOSED PATTERN INSTRUCTIONS ON JUSTIFIABLE HOMICIDE REGARDING FELONY MURDER; NOR HAS HE SHOWN PREJUDICE AS HIS ARGUMENT REGARDING THE DEFICIENCY OF THESE INSTRUCTIONS DOES NOT AFFECT THE JURY'S VERDICT ON INTENTIONAL MURDER IN THE SECOND DEGREE		
5.	THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY MERGED THE JURY VERDICTS FINDING DEFENDANT GUILTY OF INTENTIONAL SECOND DEGREE MURDER AND FELONY MURDER IN THE SECOND DEGREE INTO A SINGLE COUNT AND IMPOSED SENTENCE ON A SINGLE COUNT OF MURDER IN THE SECOND DEGREE; DEFENDANT HAS FAILED TO SHOW ANY VIOLATION OF DOUBLE JEOPARDY		
6.	DEFENDANT FAILS TO SHOW THAT THE FACTS OF HIS CASE ARE SUFFICIENTLY SIMILAR TO THOSE IN <i>O'DELL</i> AS TO REQUIRE A REMAND FOR A NEW SENTENCING HEARING		
CONCLUSION			

D.

Table of Authorities

State Cases
<i>City of Seattle v. Patu</i> , 147 Wn.2d 717, 720–21, 58 P.3d 273 (2002)40
<i>Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley</i> , 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992)
<i>In re Personal Restraint of Pirtle</i> , 136 Wn.2d 467, 487, 965 P.2d 593 (1998)
<i>State v. Belgarde</i> , 110 Wn.2d 504, 507, 755 P.2d 174 (1988)31
<i>State v. Berlin</i> , 133 Wn.2d 541, 553, 947 P.2d 700 (1997)55
<i>State v. Bradley</i> , 96 Wn. App. 678, 681–82, 980 P.2d 235 (1999), <i>aff'd</i> , 141 Wn.2d 731, 10 P.3d 358 (2000)40
State v. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d 506, 122 P.3d 150 (2005)44, 45, 47
<i>State v. Calle</i> , 125 Wn.2d 769, 774, 888 P.2d 155 (1995)50
State v. Churchill, 52 Wash. 210, 223, 100 P. 309 (1909)43, 44, 46, 47
<i>State v. Cienfuegos</i> , 144 Wn.2d 222, 25 P.3d 1011 (2001)42
<i>State v. Elmore</i> , 139 Wn.2d 250, 280, 985 P.2d 289 (1999)40
<i>State v. Escalona</i> , 49 Wn. App. 251, 254, 742 P.2d 190 (1987)
<i>State v. Ferguson</i> , 131 Wn. App. 855, 129 P.3d 856 (2006)
State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 839, 975 P.2d 967 (1999)
<i>State v. Fisher</i> , 165 Wn.2d 727, 745, 202 P.3d 937 (2009)23, 24, 30
State v. Foster, 140 Wn. App. 266, 273, 166 P.3d 726 (2007)41
<i>State v. Fuller</i> , 169 Wn. App. 797, 832, 282 P.3d 126 (2012), <i>review denied</i> , 176 Wn.2d 1006 (2013)
State v. Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 570, 646-47, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995)39, 40

<i>State v. Pam</i> , 1 Wn. App. 723, 726, 463 P.2d 200, 203 (1969)32
<i>State v. Post</i> , 118 Wn.2d 596, 620, 826 P.2d 172 (1992)
<i>State v. Price</i> , 127 Wn. App. 193, 203, 110 P.3d 1171 (2005)42
<i>State v. Russell</i> , 125 Wn.2d 24, 85-6, 882 P.2d 747 (1994)
<i>State v. Slaughter</i> , 143 Wn. App. 936, 186 P.3d 1084 (2008), <i>review denied</i> , 164 Wn.2d 1033, 197 P.3d 1184 (2008)45, 46
<i>State v. Stenson</i> , 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997)30, 36
<i>State v. Studd</i> , 137 Wn.2d 533, 546, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999)
<i>State v. Trujillo</i> , 112 Wn. App. 390, 411, 49 P.3d 935 (2002)50, 51
<i>State v. Turner</i> , 169 Wn.2d 448, 454, 238 P.3d 461 (2010)
<i>State v. Walden</i> , 131 Wn.2d 469, 474, 932 P.2d 1237 (1997)
State v. Walker, 136 Wn.2d 767, 966 P.2d 883 (1998)44, 47
<i>State v. Weber</i> , 99 Wn.2d 158, 166, 659 P.2d 1102 (1983)35
<i>State v. Womac</i> , 160 Wn.2d 643, 657, 160 P.3d 40 (2007)
State v. Ziegler, 114 Wn.2d 533, 540, 789 P.2d 79 (1990)31
Federal and Other Jurisdictions
<i>Beck v. Washington</i> , 369 U.S. 541, 557, 82 S. Ct. 955, 8 L. Ed. 2d 834 (1962)